CHARLES UNIVERSITY

FACULTY OF SCIENCE

Study programme: Biology

Branch of study: Molecular Biology and Biochemistry (B-MOBIBO)



PAVLA MALIŠOVÁ

The role of PML nuclear bodies in the innate immune response during viral infection Role jaderných tělísek PML ve vrozené imunitní odpovědi během virové infekce

BACHELOR'S THESIS

Supervisor: Boris Rjabčenko, Ph.D.

Prague, 2024

This work was supported by:

"The project National Institute of virology and bacteriology (Programme EXCELES, ID Project No. LX22NPO5103) - Funded by the European Union - Next Generation EU. "

Práce vznikla za podpory:

"Projekt Národní institut virologie a bakteriologie (Program EXCELES, ID: LX22NPO5103) – Financováno Evropskou unií – Next Generation EU. "

Declaration / Prohlášení:

I declare that I wrote this thesis by myself and listed all used resources and bibliography. Neither this thesis nor its important part was previously used to gain any academic degree.

Prohlašuji, že jsem závěrečnou práci zpracovala samostatně a že jsem uvedla všechny použité informační zdroje a literaturu. Tato práce ani její podstatná část nebyla předložena k získání jiného nebo stejného akademického titulu.

V Praze, 07.08.2024

Signature / Podpis

Acknowledgement:

I would like to thank my supervisor for his patience and his help while writing this thesis.

Abstrakt:

Tématem práce je shrnout poznatky o zapojení jaderných tělísek PML do regulace vrozené imunitní odpovědi. Práce zahrnuje popis PML jaderných tělísek a immunitní odpovědi na virovou infekci. Je zde popsáno jak PML protein a další komponenty PML jaderných tělísek – SP100, DAXX/ATRX a HIRA chaperonový komplex – regulují interferonovou odpověď typu I. V práci jsou zmíněné mechanismy, jakými vybraní zástupci Herpesvirů, Adenovirů a Polyomavirů narušují tuto regulaci, a jak inhibují funkce PML jaderných tělísek, případně jak je využívají k průběhu infekce.

Klíčová slova: PML, jaderná tělíska, vrozená imunita, virus

Abstract:

The aim of this thesis is to summarize the findings on the involvement of PML nuclear bodies in the regulation of the innate immune response. The thesis includes a description of PML nuclear bodies and the immune response to viral infection. It describes how the PML protein and other components of the PML nuclear bodies - SP100, DAXX/ATRX and the HIRA chaperone complex - regulate the type I interferon response. The mechanisms by which selected representatives of Herpesviruses, Adenoviruses and Polyomaviruses interfere with this regulation and how they inhibit PML nuclear body functions or exploit them for the course of infection are discussed.

Keywords: PML, nuclear bodies, innate immunity, virus

List of Abbreviations

ASF1A	Anti-silencing function protein 1 homolog A
ATRX	Alpha-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked
CABIN-1	Calcineurin-binding protein 1
CBP	CREB-binding protein
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
cGAS	Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
CR3	Conserved region 3
DAXX	Death domain-associated protein
E1A	Early region 1A
E1B-55K	Early region 1B-55K
E2A	Early region 2A
E4 ORF3	Early region 4 open reading frame 3
E4 ORF6	Early region 4 open reading frame 6
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
GAF	Interferon gamma activator factor
H3.3K9me3	H3.3 histone tri-methylation on lysine 9
H3K27me3	H3 histone tri-methylation on lysine 27
H3K36me3	H3 histone tri-methylation on lysine 36
H3K9me3	H3 histone tri-methylation on lysine 9
H3.3S31ph	H3.3 histone phosphorylation at serine 31
H3K9ac	H3 histone acetylation at lysine 9
H3K14ac	H3 histone acetylation at lysine 14
H4K8ac	H4 histone acetylation at lysine 8
HAdV	Human adenoviruses
НАТ	Histone acetyltransferase
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HDAC	Histone deacetylase

HIPK2	Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase
HIRA	Histone cell cycle regulator A (chaperon complex)
HIRA	Histone cell cycle regulator A
HSV-1	Herpes Simplex Virus 1
ICP0	Infected cell protein 0
IE	Immediate early
IFI16	Interferon-inducible protein 16
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon-a receptor
IKK-ε	κBkinase-related kinase
IRF3	Interferon regulation factor 3
IRF9	Interferon-regulatory factor 9
ISG	Interferon-stimulated gene
ISGF3	Interferon-stimulated gene factor 3
ISRE	Interferon-stimulated response element
JAK1	Janus kinase 1
Κ	lysine
Kr	Kremer bodies
LAT	Latency-associated transcript
MAVS/IPS-1	Mitochondrial antiviral signalling
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5
ML	Multiple latency
MTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
ND10	Nuclear domains 10
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B-cells
NLR	Nucleotide oligomerisation domain-like receptor
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern

PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase
РКС-б	Protein kinase C-delta
PKM2	Pyruvate kinase 2
PML	Promyelocytic leukaemia protein
PML NBs	Promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies
PRMT1	Arginine methyltransferase 1
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PTM	Post-translational modification
PTM	Post-translational modification
РТР	Protein tyrosine phosphatases
RBBC	RING finger domain-B-box domain-Coiled-coil region
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I
RLR	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptor
S	single
shRNA	Short hairpin RNA
SIM	SUMO-interacting motif
SLIM	STAT-interacting LIM
SOCS	Suppressor of cytokine signalling
SP100	Speckled protein 100 nuclear antigen
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
STING	Stimulator of interferon genes
SUMO	Small ubiquitin-like modifier
TBK1	TANK-binding kinase 1
TF	Transcription factor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRIM	Tripartite motif
TYK2	Tyrosine kinase 2

UBN1	Ubinuclein 1
USP18	Ubiquitin-specific peptidase 18
USP18	Ubiquitin-specific peptidase 18
vDCP NBs	Viral DNA-containing PML NBs
VSV	Vesicular stomatitis Indiana virus

Table of Contents

1 Introduction1
2 PML Nuclear Bodies
2.1 Structure and Composition of PML Nuclear Bodies
2.1.1 PML protein
2.1.2 SUMO-SIM interactions
2.2 Functions of PML NBs
2.3 PML NB-associated proteins
3 Antiviral innate immunity
3.1 Pattern Recognition Receptors
3.2 Type I Interferons
3.3 Interferon-stimulated genes
3.4 Regulation of Type I interferon response9
4 Role of PML NBs in antiviral innate immunity
4.1 PML
4.2 ATRX
4.3 SP100A13
4.4 HIRA14
5 Modulation of PML NBs by viruses
5.1 Herpesviruses
5.1.1 Herpes Simplex Virus 1
5.1.2 Human Cytomegalovirus
5.2 Adenoviruses
5.3 Polyomavirus
Conclusion
Bibliography

1 Introduction

The interplay between viral infections and the host's immune system is a complex and dynamic battle. The innate immune system serves as a first line of defence against pathogens, including viruses. It aims to prevent the virus from spreading through the organism. During cell infection, the innate immune system detects the presence of a virus through various pattern recognition receptors. These receptors then activate signalling cascades, sending the information about the virus in the cell to the nucleus to start the production of type I interferon. Interferon molecules inform about the infection autocrine and paracrine via specific receptors. Activated interferon receptors initiate both the canonical JAK-STAT signalling and noncanonical pathways to promote the expression of interferon-stimulated genes that promote an antiviral state (reviewed in (1)).

Subnuclear structures, known as PML nuclear bodies, have been shown to participate in numerous cellular processes, including the antiviral response. They modulate the signalling molecules and transcription factors, enhancing the expression of interferon-stimulated genes that encode proteins with direct antiviral effects. PML nuclear bodies help limit viral replication and spread through these mechanisms, highlighting their importance in the cellular antiviral defence machinery (reviewed in (2)).

Viruses have developed various methods to evade the immune response to infection by disrupting interferon signalling. PML nuclear bodies and numerous other cellular proteins are targeted and modified by viral proteins to enable the virus to produce progeny successfully. Interestingly, evidence of a positive role played by PML nuclear bodies on the viral infection has also surfaced (reviewed in (*3*)).

This thesis aims to summarize the known information about the role of PML nuclear bodies in regulating innate antiviral immunity. It will provide a detailed description of PML NBs: their structure and function. Furthermore, key components of innate immunity recognizing viral infection will be introduced, emphasising the type I interferon response. The mechanism of regulation of the type I interferon response by PML NBs and how certain DNA viruses interfere with this mechanism will be described.

2 PML Nuclear Bodies

Promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies (PML NBs), also known as nuclear domains 10 (ND10) or Kremer (Kr) bodies, are nuclear, membrane-less, multiprotein structures. Their existence was first documented in the year 1960 by de Thé (4). In 1991, they were re-discovered and characterised in more detail when they were found to be involved in the development of acute promyelocytic leukaemia (5, 6). Since then, PML NBs have been intensively studied and found to participate in various cellular processes, including apoptosis, antiviral defence and regulation of gene expression (7).

2.1 Structure and Composition of PML Nuclear Bodies

PML NBs are structures localised in the nucleus of most mammalian cells (5). Under the electron microscope, they appear as dense spherical structures that can be either empty or granular inside (Figure 1), with a diameter of 0.3 μ m (4, 5).



Figure 1. Different types of PML bodies. Immuno-gold electron microscopy of PML NBs in CHO cell line stably overexpressing PML. (A, B, C) "Classical" PML NBs. PML is distributed on a dense electron shell (A, B) or on light halo (C), that can contain a microgranular inner core (B, C) or not (A). Images courtesy of Edmond and Francine Puvion (CNRS, Villejuif, France) Taken from: (8); edited.

In the normal state, 5-30 PML NBs can be found in the nucleus (5). PML NBs are commonly associated with transcriptionally active genomic regions and are bound to the chromatin (9, 10). During the S-phase, chromatin rearrangements lead to the fission of PML NBs and, thus, to an approximately 2-fold increase in their number (11). Completion of cell division results in an equal distribution of PML NBs among the daughter cells and their increase to their original size (12). PML NBs disperse into microbodies in cells exposed to heavy metals or heat stress (13).

PML NBs consist of an outer shell, composed predominantly of polymerised PML protein and an inner core, where either permanently or transiently PML NB-associated proteins are located (14). To date, 271 proteins have been identified to interact with PML NBs (15). Permanently associated proteins include speckled protein 100 (SP100), small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) proteins, death-associated protein 6 (DAXX), and alpha-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (ATRX), which will be described later in work (14, 16–18). Protein molecules rapidly exchange between PML NBs and the nucleoplasm (19). The immunofluorescent image of PML NBs in the nucleus of 3T6 cell presented in Figure 2 shows the PML protein assembled at the surface of the spherical structure and the SP100 protein colocalising with it. Interestingly, the PML arrangement captured in the image suggests that PML protein forms an icosahedral structure. This arrangement could participate in the trafficking of partner proteins between the PML NBs and the nucleoplasm, as was reviewed in (20). PML deficiency tested in mice results in aberrant diffusion of PML NBs-associated protein in the nucleus (21).



Figure 2. Section through the centre of the nucleus of a mouse fibroblast (3T6) cell line showing localisation of nuclear chromatin and two constitutive members of PML NB, PML and SP100 proteins (upper panel). Nuclear chromatin is visualised by DAPI staining (confocal microscopy), while PML protein and SP100 protein (which was transiently expressed as SP100-EGFP fusion protein) are visualised by indirect immunofluorescence (STED nanoscopy). Areas indicated by red arrows are enlarged and presented in the middle and bottom panels. Taken from: (3).

2.1.1 PML protein

PML protein, or TRIM19, is the main organiser of PML NBs (14, 21). PML can be present in the cytosol and the nucleus (reviewed in 21) In the nucleus, PML protein accumulates in PML NBs (5). The synthesis of the PML protein depends on the tissue and cell type and the cell cycle phase (5, 23). This leads to high inter- and intra-organ variability.

PML protein is encoded by a single Pml gene (6, 24). PML belongs to the tripartite motif (TRIM) protein family (reviewed in 19). In humans, there are seven known isoforms of the PML protein, designated PML-I to PML-VII. The isoforms share the same N-terminal region with the TRIM motif, also known as RBBC, but vary in their C-terminal region. The TRIM consists of three zinc-binding domains: a RING (R), a B-box type 1 (B1), and a B-box type 2 (B2), followed by a coiled-coil (CC) region (reviewed in 19). Most PML isoforms are localised in the nucleus, as their C-terminus contains

a nuclear localisation signal (NLS). However, due to alternative splicing, pre-mRNA may have their NLS spliced, resulting in the production of an isoform localised in the cytoplasm (6, 24, 26, 27). The C-terminal region also contains a SUMO-interacting motif (SIM) (28). In the PML protein, SUMO proteins are bound covalently to three lysine (K) residues with the assistance of the UBC9 enzyme (29, 30).

2.1.2 SUMO-SIM interactions

The SIM domain enables PML proteins to interact non-covalently with each other and with partner proteins (31). The domain with SUMOylated proteins (31). Partner proteins like SP100 and DAXX can be SUMOylated or contain the SIM domain, or both, and thus can interact with PML proteins (32). Taken together, SUMO-SIM interactions mediate the formation of the PML outer shell and the recruitment of partner proteins to the nuclear bodies (31). The process of SUMOylation will be discussed in more detail later in the chapter. Apart from the cooperating enzymes that mediate SUMOylation, PML protein also has the SUMO ligase activity, thus promoting SUMOylation of itself and other proteins (33, 34).

2.2 Functions of PML NBs

PML NBs are implicated in multiple cellular pathways such as DNA damage sensing and repair, apoptosis, regulation of gene expression, and tumour suppression (reviewed in *31*). The involvement of PML NBs is mediated via a variety of mechanisms in which PML NBs can be considered as depots for proteins, transcription factors and co-factors, as sites of post-translational modification of various proteins, modulators of histone chaperone function, and as protein compartmentalisation centres (reviewed in *32*).

PML NBs also regulate the innate immune responses to viral infection (7, 37). The genes encoding the PML and some of the PML NB-associated proteins belong to the group of interferonstimulated genes (ISGs). The cell's PML and SP100 protein levels increase with the interferon stimuli (38, 39). Chapter 4 of the work will discuss the role of PML nuclear bodies in regulating the interferon response.

The PML-/- mice are viable but more susceptible to infections and tumorigenesis (40). Moreover, PML deficiency in mice protects the cells from apoptotic stimuli (37).

2.3 PML NB-associated proteins

This work exclusively discusses PML NB-associated proteins that are involved in regulation of type I interferon response and engage in viral infection. This chapter describes the selection of proteins.

SUMO

Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) proteins are constitutive partner proteins of PML NBs (16). They are covalently bound to lysine (K) residues as a post-translational modification, SUMOylation (41, 42). Like ubiquitination, the binding is done through the action of three cooperating enzymes: an E1 activating enzyme (43, 44), an E2 conjugating enzyme (45), and an E3 ligase (46, 47). SUMO proteins participate in forming PML NBs; they mediate interactions of PML and PML NB-associated proteins by interacting with proteins' SIM domains (31).

SP100

Speckled protein 100 nuclear antigen (SP100) is a constitutive partner protein of PML NBs, the first discovered partner protein of the PML protein (*18*). The *Sp100* gene encodes eleven isoforms, but only four of them, SP100A, SP100B, SP100HBM and SP100C, have been investigated (*48*). The protein serves both as an activator and repressor of gene expression of cellular and viral genes (*49, 50*).

DAXX/ATRX

The DAXX/ATRX complex is an H3-H4 chaperon, H3.3 specific (51). It is made up of two constitutive PML NBs-associated proteins: death-associated protein 6 (DAXX) and an ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling factor, alpha-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome X-linked (ATRX). The ATRX localisation in PML NBs is DAXX-dependent (17). The histone chaperon mediates H3.3 histone deposition on heterochromatic regions of chromosomes, maintaining its silence (52).

HIRA

The Histone cell cycle regulator A (HIRA) complex is another H3-H4 histone chaperon which consists of three proteins: the histone cell cycle regulator A (HIRA), ubinuclein 1 (UBN1), and calcineurin-binding protein 1 (CABIN-1) (*53*, *54*). It also cooperates with a histone-binding protein, the anti-silencing function protein 1 homolog A (ASF1A) (*55*). Unlike DAXX/ATRX, the HIRA complex is a transient partner protein of PML NBs and associates with nuclear bodies in response to the type I IFN treatment and to the entry of a naked histone-free DNA to the nucleus (*56*).

H3.3

H3.3 histone is a non-canonical variant of histone H3, that differs in only four amino acid sites (57). Unlike the canonical forms, H3.1 and H3.2, which are expressed during the S-phase, H3.3 is expressed throughout the cell cycle (58). DAXX/ATRX or HIRA chaperon complexes deposit the H3.3 histone onto DNA in a DNA-synthesis-independent manner (59). The replacement of canonical H3 by H3.3 histone can be followed by tri-methylation of H3.3 at lysine 9 (H3.3K9me3) or phosphorylation at serine 31 (H3.3S31ph). The presence of H3.3K9me3 in chromatin is associated with inhibition of transcription (60). H3.3S31ph acts as a cofactor of acetyltransferase p300 and is associated with transcriptional activation (61).

3 Antiviral innate immunity

3.1 Pattern Recognition Receptors

Viruses encounter various barriers during the infection, such as epithelial surfaces and protective mucus layers. These barriers prevent the virus from adhering to cell surfaces and entering them. Once the virus breaches these barriers, the innate immune system detects the virus through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Figure 3). Pattern recognition receptors are protein molecules that can bind specific "pattern" molecules characteristic of pathogens. The anti-viral PRRs identify viruses mainly through their nucleic acid. These PRRs are represented by Toll-like receptors (TLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene-like receptors (RLRs), nucleotide oligomerisation domain-like receptors (NLRs), and a group of DNA receptors (reviewed in(62)).

TLRs recognise viral DNA and viral RNA in endosomes. Signal transduction leads to the activation of transcription factors: nuclear factor kappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B-cells (NF- κ B), interferon regulation factor 3 (IRF3) and/or interferon regulation factor 7 (IRF7) to stimulate the expression of type I interferon and other cytokines (reviewed in(*63*)).

The RLR family of receptors, retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I) and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5), recognise viral RNA. After sensing, they interact with an adaptor protein mitochondrial antiviral signalling (MAVS, also known as IPS-1), followed by activation of the IRF3 and NF- κ B (64).

Viral DNA sensors, such as IFN-inducible protein 16 (IFI16) and cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS), relay signals through an adaptor protein known as a stimulator of interferon genes (STING) to activate the IRF3 (65).

Activated transcription factors are translocated to the nucleus and stimulate the expression of type I interferon and other cytokines.



Figure 3. Anti-viral pattern recognition receptors. The figure shows the various pattern recognition receptors that respond to viral infection from DNA and RNA. The major forms of nucleic acids that act as PAMPs from viruses are illustrated along with the PRRs they bind to including TLRs, RLRs and DNA sensors. The PRR sensing ultimately leads to the activation of transcription factors that translocate to the nucleus and help initiate the transcription of type I interferons, e.g., IFNB. Taken from: (66); edited.

3.2 Type I Interferons

Interferons are cytokines that cells produce in response to viruses and other pathogens. They initiate signalling cascades that repress viral replication and spread to surrounding cells. Based on their structure, receptor, and function, interferons are classified into three families: type I IFN (IFN- α , IFN- β), type II IFN (IFN- γ), and type III IFN (IFN- λ) (reviewed in (*67*)). Since this work focuses on type I INF signalling, type II and III IFNs will not be discussed.

The family of type I interferons comprises of IFN- α , - β , - κ , - ε and - ω . They all act by binding to the heterodimeric transmembrane receptor, the interferon- α receptor (IFNAR). The INF-signalling pathways are stimulated upon interferon molecule binding to the IFNAR. The receptor dimerises with the binding stimulus. The cytoplasmic domains of the receptor are associated with Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2), which activate each other through phosphorylation and subsequently phosphorylate specific tyrosine residues on the IFNAR. Activated JAKs and TYKs then activate the canonical signalling pathways via signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs), and the

non-canonical pathways like p38 cascade, MEK-ERK pathway or phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI3K) pathway (reviewed in (1)).

The newly phosphorylated sites on IFNARs are binding sites for signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs). For the type I IFN, STAT1 and STAT2 participate in the signal transduction. STATs dimerise upon phosphorylation, forming homodimers (STAT1) and heterodimers (STAT1-STAT2). Heterodimers interact with IFN-regulatory factor 9 (IRF9) and translocate into the nucleus as an IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3). The complex binds to a DNA sequence motif known as the IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE). Homodimers translocate into the nucleus without IRF9 and bind to a DNA sequence motif called gamma-activated sequence (GAS). ISRE and GAS are found in promoters of genes known as interferon-stimulated genes. The binding of ISGF3 and STAT1 homodimers to the ISRE and GAS motifs induces the expression of ISGs (Figure 4) (reviewed in(68)).



Figure 4. All type I interferons (IFNs) bind a common receptor at the surface of human cells, known as the type I IFN receptor. The type I IFN receptor comprises two subunits, IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, which are associated with the Janus activated kinases (JAKs) tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) and JAK1, respectively. Activation of the JAKs that are associated with the type I IFN receptor results in tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT2 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 2) and STAT1; this leads to the formation of STAT1–STAT2–IRF9 (IFN-regulatory factor 9) complexes, which are known as ISGF3 (IFN-stimulated gene (ISG) factor 3) complexes. These complexes translocate to the nucleus and bind IFN-stimulated response elements (ISREs) in DNA to initiate gene transcription. Type I IFNs also induce the formation of STAT1–STAT1 homodimers that translocate to the nucleus and bind GAS (IFN-y-activated site) elements that are present in the promoter of certain ISGs, thereby initiating the

transcription of these genes. The consensus GAS element and ISRE sequences are shown. N, any nucleotide. Taken from: (68); edited.

3.3 Interferon-stimulated genes

Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) encode proteins that mediate the innate immune system's response. More than 300 ISGs are known (69). Among them are proteins that promote an antiviral state in the cell by interfering with viral replication at different stages or enhancing type I IFN signalling (70). However, several ISGs also contribute to viral infection (reviewed in (71)).

Besides the ISGF3, the expression of ISGs is activated by the NF- κ B factor. The NF-kB translocation to the nucleus upon the PRRs signalling leads to stimulation of ISGs. This mechanism occurs simultaneously and independently of the interferon signalling (72). Some ISG products are expressed basally in the cell, like several PRRs (MDA5, RIG-I) or transcription factors (IRF3, IRF9), and the IFN stimulus upregulates their expression. At the same time, some ISGs are only IFN-inducible (70).

3.4 Regulation of Type I interferon response

Precise regulations mediate an appropriate and balanced antiviral immune response. In particular, regulation of type I IFNs involves post-translational modifications (PTMs) – phosphorylation, polyubiquitylation, methylation, and ISGylation – of signalling molecules, transcription factors, histones, and DNA methylation.

Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation

Phosphorylation is the driving modification of the JAK/STAT pathway. Besides the JAK phosphorylation of STATs, the MAPK pathway and the PKC- δ kinases modify the STAT1s to maximise the IFN-mediated transcriptional activity (73, 74). Another kinase, the inhibitor of nuclear factor κ Bkinase-related kinase (IKK- ϵ), phosphorylates STAT1s to encourage the DNA binding activity of the molecules (75).

Dephosphorylation mainly suppresses type I IFN signalling. The suppressor of cytokine signalling proteins (SOCSs) are known to negatively regulate the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. SOCSs bind to the IFNAR and suppress STAT phosphorylation (*76*). Phosphatases from the protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTP) family, specifically the SH2 domain-containing phosphatases SHP1 and SHP2, dephosphorylate STAT1s in the nucleus (*77*).

Ubiquitylation and ISGylation

The process of covalent binding of the ubiquitin to the substrate is done through the action of three enzymes: an E1 activating enzyme, an E2 conjugating enzyme, and an E3 ligase (reviewed in (78). Ubiquitylation regulates the type I IFN response from different levels, including IFNARs, the signal

transducers, and the ISGs (reviewed in (79)). The STAT-interacting LIM (SLIM) protein modifies STAT molecules in the nucleus, leading to their proteasome-mediated degradation (80).

ISGylation is a process in which a ubiquitin-like modifier, ISG15, is covalently bound to the substrate. Like ubiquitylation and SUMOylation, the covalent binding is done via an E3 ligase (*81*). ISGylation frequently modifies JAK1 and STAT1 molecules and positively regulates activation as well as STAT1 binding to DNA (*82*). The ubiquitin-specific peptidase 18 (USP18) is specific for deISGylation (*83*) and in USP18 knockdown cells, the modification promotes prolonged activation of JAK1 and STAT1 (*84*).

SUMOylation

SUMOylation has a dual regulatory effect on type I IFN response. Viral infection increases SUMOylation of both IRF3 and IRF7. The modification of transcription factors is mediated via TLR and RIG/MDA-5 signalling (85). Moreover, the decrease in SUMOylation of the *ifnb1* gene leads to an increase in the transcriptional activity of the *ifnb1* gene. The promoter accumulates the H3K4me3 and H3ac marks, prolonging the gene's transcription (86). SUMOylation of STAT1 via the E3 ligase protein inhibitors of activated STAT1 (PIAS1) downregulates the signalling and ISG expression (87).

RIG-I is also a SUMOylation target. However, in this case, the modification mediates positive regulation, enhancing IFN- β production and the resistance to viral infection (88).

A binding site for the SUMO modification target protein SETDB1, a methyltransferase, was found between the *ifnb1* gene promoter and enhancer. SETDB1 binding overlaps with H3K9me3 heterochromatin marks. Experiments with SUMOylation-defective mutants showed that SUMOylation is essential for SETDB1 binding at the heterochromatin region and maintaining H3K9me3 modifications. SETDB1 is associated with TRIM28, and their interaction is mediated via SUMO-SIM. Inhibition of SUMOylation disrupts the SETDB1-TRIM28 repressive complex, thus regulating *ifnb1* expression (89).



Figure 5. The SETDB1 and TRIM28 proteins interact via SUMO-SIM interactions and work together as a complex repressing gene expression. The complex binds to the heterochromatin region between the promoter and enhancer of the ifnb1 gene, overlapping with the H3K9me3 heterochromatin marks. SUMOylation inhibition affects the binding of SETDB1 to the

heterochromatin, but not the TRIM28, and the reduction of SETDB1 also leads to the reduction of the H3K9me3 modification. With the SETDB1-TRIM28 complex disrupted, the expression of the ifnb1 gene increases. Taken from (89).

Acetylation and methylation

Acetylation and methylation are typically epigenetic markers, but both PTMs are also found to regulate type I IFN signalling on different levels. Histone deacetylase 9 (HDAC9) interacts with TANKbinding kinase 1 (TBK1) and activates it, which leads to enhanced induction of type I IFNs during viral infection (90). Phosphorylated IFNARs recruit the histone acetyltransferase CREB-binding protein (CBP), which acetylates the receptor. The acetyl group serves as a docking site for IRF9. Acetylation of STATs by CBP in their DNA-binding domain is essential for forming the ISGF3 complex. The IRF9 is also a target of acetylation by CBP to bind to STAT1 (91).

Methylation is found to play a crucial role in the moment of STAT1 translocation from the cytoplasm to the nucleus; arginine methyltransferase 1 (PRMT1) modifies STAT1 and triggers the translocation so the PIAS1 cannot interact with it and cannot inhibit the signalling (92).

Histone modifications

Regulation via the histone modifications is mediated on different levels of the type I IFN response. The *ifnb1* gene expression is regulated through the histone acetyltransferase GCN5. The acetylation of the H3 histone at lysine 9 (H3K9ac) and lysine 14 (H3K14ac) and of the H4 histone at lysine 8 (H4K8ac) positioned at the promoter enhances the IFN expression (93). Di-methylation of the H3K9 by the lysine methyltransferase G9a is a repressive modification, and its deficiency leads to enhanced type I IFN and ISG expression (94).

The histone modifications of ISGs are mediated through type I IFN signalling pathway components. The STAT2 proteins recruit a histone acetyltransferase GCN5 to acetylate the H3 histone to induce the expression of ISGs (95). The STAT1 proteins bind the E3 ubiquitin ligase PARP9-DTX3L complex to catalyse the ubiquitylation of the H2B histone to enhance the expression of ISGs (96).

DNA methylation

DNA methylation of 5-cytosine by DNA methyltransferases is a repressive DNA modification. In terms of the *ifnb1* gene promoter, it was found to be regulated by single nucleotide methylation. Deficiency of the UHRF1 protein, which recruits the DNA methyltransferases to the modification sites, results in demethylation and enhanced interaction of the IRF3 complex with the promoter (*97*).

4 Role of PML NBs in antiviral innate immunity

Type I IFN stimulation leads to PML NBs juxtaposing the ISG loci (98, 99). PML NBs regulate type I IFN signalling on various levels, and this chapter summarises how PML protein and PML NB-associated proteins regulate the type I IFN response.

4.1 PML

PML protein positively regulates type I IFN signalling in various stages. PML protein facilitates the transcription of both STAT1 and STAT2 proteins. It then interacts with the STAT1 and STAT2 proteins in the ISGF3 complex and the HDAC1 and HDAC2 to induce the ISG expression (*100*). Although HDAC activity is known for its transcriptional repression, interestingly HDACs play a positive role in the ISG transcription in response to type I IFN signalling (*101*, *102*). The HDAC1 interacts with STAT1 and STAT2 proteins and co-activates the expression of ISGF3-stimulated ISGs (*102*).

Besides the transcription regulation, the PML-ISGF3-HDAC complex also regulates expression epigenetically. After initial IFN stimulation, HDACs modify the ISGs at H3 histone with a trimethylation on lysine 36 (H3K36me3) and by positioning the H3.3 histone onto the chromatin (*101*, *102*). Both modifications mark an IFN epigenetic memory, enabling faster recruitment of RNA polymerase II and other transcription factors to the promoters (*101*).

The PML-II isoform positively regulates the expression of IFN- β and interferon signalling. The isoform promotes the association of IRF3 and NF- κ B transcription factors with the CBP co-activator to form transcriptional complexes at the IFN- β promoter. Moreover, PML-II regulates the downstream JAK/STAT signalling pathway as the activation of ISRE elements of ISGs depends on the presence of the isoform. PML-II also interacts with the transcriptional complexes and binds them to gene promoters, and the specific C-terminal domain was found to be behind the interactions (*103*).

The PML-IV isoform positively regulates the expression of IFN- β upon viral infection. The isoform requires SUMO modifications to successfully enhance the IFN synthesis. PML-IV enhances the IFN production by increasing the IRF3 activation. It is the only protein isoform that sequesters the PIN1, a prolyl isomerase that promotes the degradation of phosphorylated IRF3, to the PML NBs, thus suppressing the PIN1-induced degradation of IRF3 (*104*).

4.2 ATRX

The ATRX protein co-activates the innate immune response. Depleting ATRX in cells suppresses the cytosolic DNA sensing cGAS-STING pathway as the phosphorylation of IRF3 rapidly decreases, reducing the mRNA levels of IFN-β. The same results were obtained for the RNA sensing RIG-I/MDA-5 pathway (105).

The ATRX protein also interacts with the IRF3 complex and positively regulates IRF3-mediated ISG expression, independently of type I IFN signalling. In addition to the indirect regulation of ISG expression, ATRX directly regulates a distinct set of ISGs, like *CCL8* and *TNFSF10*, upon IFN- β stimuli. Interestingly, the regulation via ATRX is independent of the DAXX protein, as the expression of studied ISGs did not change in DAXX knockdown cells (*105*).

Although ATRX is known to repress gene expression via heterochromatinisation, upon IFN- β treatment, the protein positively affects the chromatin accessibility of the *ifnb1* gene and ISGs. ATRX, thus, most likely modifies the binding of transcription factors. Moreover, the protein binds directly to the IFN- β promoter region, mediating the gene transcription as well (*105*).

4.3 SP100A

The SP100A protein, another PML NB-associated protein regulating the type I IFN signalling, is the only isoform that localises in both cytosol and nucleus. The type I IFN response initiates an active translocation of SP100A to the nucleus soon after the cell is exposed to the IFN- β . Moreover, the protein can be transported back to the cytosol (*106*).

The SP100A protein interacts directly with the pyruvate kinase 2 (PKM2), and experiments showed that SP100A translocation to the nucleus utilises the ERK1/2-PKM2-PIN1-importin axis in response to the type I IFN. The interaction and subsequent translocation of SP100A are regulated via the phosphorylation of serine 188 on SP100A and the PI3K pathway. IFN signalling also activates inhibitors, including GDC0941, which blocks the PI3K pathway and thus both positively and negatively regulates the translocation of SP100A to the nucleus (*106*).

In the nucleus, SP100A protein binds to the promoter regions of antiviral ISGs, like *OAS2*, *ISG15* and *RIG-I*, with higher affinity in response to the IFN- β and increases the mRNA levels of these genes. Surprisingly, in the absence of a DNA binding domain in the SP100A protein, the isoform is associated with the promoter regions independently of the PML proteins and the PML NBs. Similar findings were obtained from cells infected with the Vesicular stomatitis Indiana virus (VSV) (*106*). Figure 6 shows a proposed model of the SP100A translocation to the nucleus in response to the type I IFN stimulation and the SP100A regulation of ISGs expression.



Figure 6. Proposed model of the SP100A translocation to the nucleus in response to the type I IFN stimulation and the SP100A regulation of ISGs expression. The infection with the VSV virus triggers the IFN-8 production and secretion. IFN-8 binds to the type I IFN receptor and stimulates the PI3K signalling pathway and the ERK1/2, activating the PKM2. SP100A is phosphorylated on serin 188 by an unknown cytosolic kinase, and the modified protein is translocated to the nucleus via the ERK1/2-PKM2-PIN1-importin axis. SP100A then interacts with a distinct set of antiviral ISGs at their promoter regions and upregulates their transcription. Taken from (106); edited.

4.4 HIRA

PML NBs and HIRA chaperone complex regulate the expression of ISGs via H3.3 histone deposition. HIRA complex accumulates in PML nuclear bodies via the SUMO-SIM interactions upon the type I IFN stimuli. Whether HIRA is sequestrated into PML NBs depends on the SP100 and DAXX protein levels in the PML NBs and the H3.3 levels in the nucleoplasm. The SP100 protein serves as a positive regulator of the PML NBs-HIRA interaction. In contrast, the DAXX protein and the H3.3 histone in the nucleoplasm are negative regulators of the HIRA accumulation in PML NBs (*99*).

Upon the type I IFN stimuli, the PML NBs are juxtaposed to the interferon-stimulated genomic loci. Interestingly, the existing PML NBs do not seem to be involved in the regulation; instead, the PML protein molecules initially involved in the transcription regulation of ISGs form new PML NBs and the

HIRA complex is accumulated in them. The H3.3 histone deposition via the HIRA complex then happens in the transcription end sites region of ISGs. Moreover, the deposition of H3.3 persists for up to 48 hours after the type I IFN stimulus, extending well beyond the peak of ISGs transcription, and is concomitant with an H3 histone modification, the memory marker H3K36me3, mediated by the methyltransferase SETD2 (*99*).

Although the HIRA complex mediates the deposition of H3.3 histone onto the ISG loci, its accumulation in juxtaposed PML NBs is unnecessary for the histone loading onto the chromatin. Figure 7 presents a possible model describing the role of PML NBs as HIRA depots and regulators of ISG expression, and HIRA complex upon the type I IFN stimuli (99).



Figure 7. Model for the dual role of PML/PML NBs in type I interferon response. At early time points after an initial type I IFN stimulus, (i) PML is required for ISGs transcription and (ii) this could indirectly help to load HIRA on ISGs participating in H3.3 dynamics. (iii) While HIRA depletion does not affect ISGs transcription per se, it could participate in H3.3 deposition at ISGs, a function which does not seem to require its accumulation in PML NBs. (iv) PML neonucleation would mediate juxtaposition of PML NBs with ISGs at late times after type I IFN treatment which could help to keep a memory of the physiological state of the cell. (v) In addition, PML NBs play a second independent role by buffering the extra pool of HIRA complex available in the nucleus. (vi) Increase of DAXX protein levels could modulate the amount of available binding sites for HIRA within PML NBs. Taken from (99).

5 Modulation of PML NBs by viruses

PML protein induces resistance to viral infection (7). Experiments with PML knock-out cells showed that the interferon response was diminished in the absence of PML protein (107). This observation is evidence of the importance of PML protein and the PML NBs in the antiviral state. It explains why viruses target PML NBs and disrupt or modulate them upon entering the nucleus. This chapter describes how DNA viruses interfere with the innate immune response by modifying PML NBs during infection. The chapter does not discuss the molecular mechanisms of viral infection but only mentions viral proteins that interact with PML NBs.

5.1 Herpesviruses

The *Herpesviridae* family is a group of viruses with a double-stranded DNA genome. This work will focus on the herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) and the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV). The role of PML nuclear bodies during infection has been studied the most with these two viruses from the *Herpesviridae* family.

5.1.1 Herpes Simplex Virus 1

When the HSV-1 genome enters the nucleus, immediate early genes are expressed. The immediate early infected cell protein 0 (ICP0) is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (108). ICP0 positively regulates viral and cellular gene transcription and enhances viral replication (109-111). The protein also induces the lytic programme from latency (109). During the latent programme, only latency-associated transcripts (LATs), non-coding RNAs that establish the latency and reactivation, are expressed (112).

PML NBs and ICP0

Upon entry to the nucleus, the HSV-1 genome associates with the PML NBs (*113*). The viral ICP0 disrupts the PML NBs by degrading PML, SP100, and SUMO proteins through its SUMO-targeted E3 ubiquitin ligase (STUbL) activity (*114–116*). The ICP0-mediated PML degradation reduces the effect of type I IFN treatment on viral replication (*117*).

The ICP0 interacts with SUMO proteins via SIM motifs and ubiquitinates SUMO to initiate protein degradation. The viral protein also degrades the PML-I isoform independently of SUMO modifications (*114*). On the other hand, the ICP0 protein does not disrupt the DAXX/ATRX complex (*118*).

In an ICP0-null HSV-1 mutant, the PML and SP100 proteins increase viral replication repression (*119*, *120*). Proteins are translocated to the sites of early replication compartments of the viral genomes, forming PML NB-like complexes (*119–121*). Other PML NB-associated proteins, like the

Okomentoval(a): [PM1]: Here is the info about PMLmediated IFN response. Is it okay if it's here or is it too .hidden'? DAXX/ATRX complex, also translocate to the viral genomes. The presence of ATRX at the early replication compartments depends on DAXX (118).

Cells depleted of PML protein and infected with the ICP0-null mutant showed that the PML-I and PML-II isoforms could partially reverse the increased viral replication. The PML-I isoform restrictive activity is implemented via SUMO modifications and SIM domains (*122*). Depletion of SP100, DAXX and ATRX also increases viral replication (*118*, *120*).

DAXX/ATRX and HIRA chaperon complexes repress the HSV-1 genome expression

The DAXX/ATRX complex in the early replication compartments interacts with promoters and restricts viral gene transcription by facilitating heterochromatin. The deposited histones H3 are modified on lysine 9 and 27 by three methyl groups (H3K9me3; H3K27me3), resulting in expression silencing. ATRX maintains the viral heterochromatin during the infection with the help of PML protein. However, neither the DAXX/ATRX chaperon complex nor PML protein is uniquely required to form heterochromatin on the viral genome (*123*).

The HIRA complex is also involved in the chromatinisation of HSV-1 genomes. The presence of the HSV-1 genome in the nucleoplasm and the type I IFN response trigger the HIRA complex co-localisation in PML NBs. The HIRA complex then binds to the naked HSV-1 and depositions the H3.3 histone on the genome, resulting in gene expression repression (*56*).

PML nuclear bodies during the latent cycle of HSV-1

During the latent cycle, PML NBs and HSV-1 genome molecules interact and make a structure called viral DNA-containing PML NBs (vDCP NBs) (*124*, *125*). The PML protein outer shell wraps around the viral DNA. There are multiple copies of the viral genome in the nucleus during the latency, and the copies are distributed in two patterns: a "single" (S) pattern and a "multiple latency" (ML) pattern. The S pattern showed one spot where the viral genomes were accumulated in the nucleus, and these copies were part of vDCP NBs. The ML pattern detected up to 30 spots with accumulated genome copies; only some were formed vDCP NBs (*124*).

The formation of vDCP NBs leads to transcriptional suppression of LATs. LATs are expressed only in ML pattern neurons from genomes not trapped in the vDCP NBs (*124*). The suppression of HSV-1 is caused by chromatinisation of the genomes via the DAXX/ATRX and HIRA complexes found in vDCP NBs. The H3.3 histone co-localizes with the chaperon complexes in vDCP NBs and is deposited onto the HSV-1 genome. H3.3 histone is post-translationally modified on lysine 9 with three methyl groups (H3.3K9me3), resulting in transcriptional silencing of HSV-1 (*126*). The depletion of either one or both histone chaperone complexes leads to a decrease of H3.3 association with the HSV-1 genome and destabilisation of the vDCP NB (*126*).

The transcriptional repression in vDCP NBs is not permanent, and the expression can be recovered via ICP0. The expression of ICP0 destabilises the vDCP NBs, the HSV-1 genome is derepressed, and the transcription of viral genes is recovered together with HSV-1 replication (*126*).

5.1.2 Human Cytomegalovirus

During the lytic cycle, upon the entry of the HCMV genome into the nucleus, the expression of genes encoding the immediate early (IE) proteins begins. IE proteins regulate the transcription of viral and cellular genes.

PML NBs and the IEs

Within the first hours of the infection, the IE1 and IE2 proteins colocalise with PML NBs and cause their disruption (*127*, *128*). The IE1 protein interacts directly with the PML and SP100 protein (*129*, *130*), abrogating the PML SUMOylation (*130*, *131*).

To start the expression of IE genes, the viral protein PP71 interacts with the DAXX protein and induces its degradation. This way, DAXX cannot repress the synthesis of the IE proteins through the HDAC (*132*).

The IE1 protein inhibits IFN- β -induced ISG expression, and it was found that IE1 requires the PML protein to repress the ISG expression efficiently. The IE1 interacts with the PML protein, the ISGF3 complex and the HDAC1 and HDAC2, repressing the proteins from binding to the ISG promoters. The type I IFN induced expression of ISGs is PML dependent (*100*).

HCMV gene repression depends on PML NBs, specifically the PML and SP100 proteins. The PML and SP100 protein production was upregulated with the IFN-beta treatment. The ability to inhibit the HCMV infection is abrogated when the IFN production is blocked, leading to the level of PML and SP100 proteins not being upregulated in cells. The protein levels of DAXX did not increase during the IFN-beta treatment (*133*).

5.2 Adenoviruses

The *Adenoviridae* family comprises medium-sized viruses with double-stranded DNA genomes. The viral proteins are expressed at different phases of the viral replication cycle and thus are separated into three groups: early, intermediate, and late. In this chapter, only human adenoviruses (HAdV) will be described.

The early viral protein E1A (early region 1A) activates the transcription of other early viral genes (*134*). Two isoforms of the early viral E1A protein, E1A-13S and E1A-12S, are produced from the mRNA transcripts via alternative splicing. The E1A-13S isoform contains a unique conserved region 3 (CR3), an interaction site for a wide range of transcription factors to activate transcription (*135*).

Other early viral proteins are E2A (early region 2A), E1B-55K (early region 1B-55K), E4 ORF3 and ORF6 (early region 4 open reading frame 3 and 6). The early viral protein E2A localises at the replication centres of HAdV (*136*).

PML NBs and E4 ORFs

The E4 ORF3 viral protein colocalises with PML NBs upon viral infection (137). E4 ORF3 quickly disrupts the PML NBs into PML fibrous-like tracks (128, 129) by directly interacting with the PML-II isoform (138). PML protein mediates the type I IFN-induced antiviral state (139), and the E4 ORF3 protein antagonises the type I IFN response to the infection (140) via the interaction with PML-II isoform. Overexpression of the PML protein blocks the PML NBs disruption (137). Interestingly, the disruption of PML NBs and reduction of DAXX, but not SP100, restores the viral replication in both IFN-unstimulated and stimulated cells transfected with mutated E4 ORF3 protein (139).

PML and E1A-13S

Upon early viral protein expression, the E1A-13S isoform co-localises to the PML NBs, explicitly interacting with the PML-II isoform through the CR3. Besides stimulating the viral gene expression, the E1A-13S-PML complex also interacts with cellular transcriptional coactivators, like p300, and enhances their stimulating activity when inducing the expression of cellular genes (*141*).

Moreover, the PML-II isoform positively regulates the replication of HAdV, as the experiment with PML knockdown cells showed a modest effect on the viral replication. Interestingly, PML-II isoforms containing mutant SIM domains stimulated the E1A-13S-dependent transcription of viral proteins more efficiently than the wild-type isoform (141).

PML, SP100A and E2A

A recent study found three SUMO conjugating motives in the E2A protein sequence. The E2A interacts with the UBC9 conjugating enzyme but not with the PIAS4 ligase. The SUMOylation of E2A, a novel finding, controls the binding to PML protein and thus participates in the recruitment of PML to replication centres. The modification of E2A does not affect the DNA binding capacity of the viral protein. Experiments showed that viral progeny production depends on SUMOylation of E2A as the late protein expression was lower than the wild-type infection, resulting in less viral progeny production. However, mutations in SUMO conjugating motives do not impair the E2A expression. The E2A SUMOylation also promotes the interaction of E2A with SP100A protein that is localised in PML tracks. The SP100A protein level was higher during wild-type infection than during the infection of HAdV with mutant SUMO conjugating motives. Based on the gathered information, a model describing the role of E2A SUMOylation mediating the localisation of PML tracks by the viral replication centres has been proposed (Figure 8) (*142*).



Figure 8. Model of E2A SUMO modification-mediated localisation of PML tracks next to viral replication centres during infection. Shown is a schematic representation illustrating a proposed model linking E2A SUMOylation during infection with PML-NB subcellular localisation. The model shows the influence of E2A SUMO PTM on PML-NB localisation adjacent to HAdV RCs by E2A SUMOylation-dependent E2A/PML and E2A/Sp100A interactions. E2A SCM mutations prevent the virus from using beneficial components from PML-NBs, leading to defects in virus gene expression and progeny production. Taken from (142).

DAXX and E1B-55K

The E1B-55K viral protein also colocalises with PML NBs (137). Experiments showed that the DAXX protein negatively regulates the HAdV replication, specifically in the early phase of the infection, as cell lines with reduced DAXX produced more mRNA for early viral proteins. The DAXX protein level is reduced at late times of the infection as the protein is a target of proteasomal degradation, which depends on the presence of E1B-55K protein but not E4 ORF6 (143).

5.3 Polyomavirus

Polyomaviruses are small viruses with a circular double-stranded DNA genome. The genomes encode early gene products, like large T protein, which participates in gene expression and interferes with the host immune system response, and late gene products, like VPs capsid proteins and agnoprotein (reviewed in (*144*)). In this chapter, only the JC virus will be described.

Experiments with arsenite showed that the JC infection is not affected by IFN- β when the PML protein is not present in the cell. The IFN- β response to JC infection is PML-dependent. The early viral protein large T is accumulated in microdomains near PML NBs. The depletion of PML protein does not affect the localisation of viral protein. However, the type I IFN treatment caused the viral microdomains to associate more closely with the PML NBs (*145*).

During the late phase of the viral replication cycle, the VP1 protein accumulates in PML NBs only in the presence of VP2/VP3 and agnoprotein. PML NBs are where the capsid proteins assemble into virions (*146*).

Conclusion

Intensive research on antiviral innate immune response outlined the complicated mechanisms of regulation. It is maintained through various types of post-translational regulations of the components of signalling cascades as well as through epigenetic modifications of chromatin on the levels of posttranslational modifications of histones and DNA methylation.

PML nuclear bodies are positive regulators of type I interferon response and maintain their function by different ways. They promote targeting of the transcription complexes on the promoters of ISGs and histone modifications and prevent the degradation of transcription factors.

Interestingly, the research provided information about proteins that are known to repress gene expression, like ATRX and HDACs, positively modifying the transcription of type I IFN and ISGs. Recently discovered participation of the HIRA chaperone complex in regulating ISGs expression explains the mechanism behind the upregulation and suggests a mechanism of memorising the cell's physiological state upon type I IFN signalling.

Despite significant progress, there are still unresolved aspects of PML nuclear bodies. The granular structures in the core of PML NBs have been a subject of ongoing debate and research due to conflicting results. Initially, the granular inside was detected as RNA molecules (147). However, subsequent studies have contradicted this, stating that PML NBs do not contain nucleic acid molecules in their core (148). As of now, there is no consensus on the components of the granular structures in the core of PML NBs, highlighting the need for further investigation in this area.

SUMO modification regulates interferon signalling. In the nucleus, the main factories for SUMOylation are PML NBs. However, the relationship between PML NBs and SUMOylation of signal mediators and/or transcription factors involved in the interferon response is not well established and requires future studies.

DNA viruses, such as herpesviruses, adenoviruses or polyomaviruses, place their entering genomes in the vicinity of the PML NB and establish replication centres there. One of the consequences is the modulation of the PML NBs leading to abrogation or inhibition of the function of the bodies in the regulation of the interferon response and is beneficial for viruses. The exact molecular mechanism of this process is well understood for herpesviruses, which are examples of large DNA viruses. For small DNA viruses (e.g. polyomaviruses) this mechanism needs to be elucidated.

Bibliography

- 1. * K. Chen, J. Liu, X. Cao, Regulation of type I interferon signaling in immunity and inflammation: A comprehensive review. *J. Autoimmun.* **83**, 1–11 (2017).
- * M. Scherer, T. Stamminger, Emerging Role of PML Nuclear Bodies in Innate Immune Signaling. J. Virol. 90, 5850–5854 (2016).
- * B. Ryabchenko, V. Šroller, L. Horníková, A. Lovtsov, J. Forstová, S. Huérfano, The interactions between PML nuclear bodies and small and medium size DNA viruses. *Virol. J.* 20, 82 (2023).
- 4. G. de Thé, M. Riviere, W. Bernhard, Examen au microscope électronique de la tumeur VX2 du lapin domestique dérivée du papillome de Shope. *Bull Cancer* **47**, 570–584 (1960).
- 5. C. A. Ascoli, G. G. Maul, Identification of a novel nuclear domain. J. Cell Biol. 112, 785–795 (1991).
- H. de Thé, C. Lavau, A. Marchio, C. Chomienne, L. Degos, A. Dejean, The PML-RAR alpha fusion mRNA generated by the t(15;17) translocation in acute promyelocytic leukemia encodes a functionally altered RAR. *Cell* 66, 675–684 (1991).
- M. K. Chelbi-Alix, F. Quignon, L. Pelicano, M. H. M. Koken, H. de Thé, Resistance to Virus Infection Conferred by the Interferon-Induced Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein. *J. Virol.* 72, 1043–1051 (1998).
- 8. V. Lallemand-Breitenbach, H. de Thé, PML nuclear bodies. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2, a000661 (2010).
- C. H. Eskiw, G. Dellaire, D. P. Bazett-Jones, Chromatin contributes to structural integrity of promyelocytic leukemia bodies through a SUMO-1-independent mechanism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 9577–9585 (2004).
- J. Wang, C. Shiels, P. Sasieni, P. J. Wu, S. A. Islam, P. S. Freemont, D. Sheer, Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies associate with transcriptionally active genomic regions. *J. Cell Biol.* 164, 515–526 (2004).
- G. Dellaire, R. W. Ching, H. Dehghani, Y. Ren, D. P. Bazett-Jones, The number of PML nuclear bodies increases in early S phase by a fission mechanism. *J. Cell Sci.* 119, 1026–1033 (2006).
- G. Dellaire, C. H. Eskiw, H. Dehghani, R. W. Ching, D. P. Bazett-Jones, Mitotic accumulations of PML protein contribute to the re-establishment of PML nuclear bodies in G1. *J. Cell Sci.* 119, 1034–1042 (2006).
- G. G. Maul, E. Yu, A. M. Ishov, A. L. Epstein, Nuclear domain 10 (ND10) associated proteins are also present in nuclear bodies and redistribute to hundreds of nuclear sites after stress. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 59, 498–513 (1995).
- A. M. Ishov, A. G. Sotnikov, D. Negorev, O. V. Vladimirova, N. Neff, T. Kamitani, E. T. H. Yeh, J. F. Strauss III, G. G. Maul, Pml Is Critical for Nd10 Formation and Recruits the Pml-Interacting Protein Daxx to This Nuclear Structure When Modified by Sumo-1. *J. Cell Biol.* 147, 221–234 (1999).
- O. Barroso-Gomila, F. Trulsson, V. Muratore, I. Canosa, L. Merino-Cacho, A. R. Cortazar, C. Pérez, M. Azkargorta, I. Iloro, A. Carracedo, A. M. Aransay, F. Elortza, U. Mayor, A. C. O.

Vertegaal, R. Barrio, J. D. Sutherland, Identification of proximal SUMO-dependent interactors using SUMO-ID. *Nat. Commun.* **12**, 6671 (2021).

- S. Müller, M. J. Matunis, A. Dejean, Conjugation with the ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1 regulates the partitioning of PML within the nucleus. *EMBO J.* 17, 61–70 (1998).
- Y. Xue, R. Gibbons, Z. Yan, D. Yang, T. L. McDowell, S. Sechi, J. Qin, S. Zhou, D. Higgs, W. Wang, The ATRX syndrome protein forms a chromatin-remodeling complex with Daxx and localizes in promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 100, 10635–10640 (2003).
- T. Sternsdorf, H. H. Guldner, C. Szostecki, T. Grötzinger, H. Will, Two nuclear dot-associated proteins, PML and Sp100, are often co-autoimmunogenic in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 42, 257–268 (1995).
- * S. Weidtkamp-Peters, T. Lenser, D. Negorev, N. Gerstner, T. G. Hofmann, G. Schwanitz, C. Hoischen, G. Maul, P. Dittrich, P. Hemmerich, Dynamics of component exchange at PML nuclear bodies. *J. Cell Sci.* 121, 2731–2743 (2008).
- * S. A. Silonov, E. Y. Smirnov, I. M. Kuznetsova, K. K. Turoverov, A. V. Fonin, PML Body Biogenesis: A Delicate Balance of Interactions. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 24, 16702 (2023).
- * S. Zhong, S. Müller, S. Ronchetti, P. S. Freemont, A. Dejean, P. P. Pandolfi, Role of SUMO-1modified PML in nuclear body formation. *Blood* 95, 2748–2752 (2000).
- K. Jensen, C. Shiels, P. S. Freemont, PML protein isoforms and the RBCC/TRIM motif. Oncogene 20, 7223–7233 (2001).
- K. Chang, Y. Fan, M. Andreeff, J. Liu, Z. Mu, The PML gene encodes a phosphoprotein associated with the nuclear matrix. *Blood* 85, 3646–3653 (1995).
- A. D. Goddard, J. Borrow, P. S. Freemont, E. Solomon, Characterization of a Zinc Finger Gene Disrupted by the t(15;17) in Acute Promyelocytic Leukemia. *Science*, doi: 10.1126/science.1720570 (1991).
- B. A. Reddy, L. D. Etkin, P. S. Freemont, A novel zinc finger coiled-coil domain in a family of nuclear proteins. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 17, 344–345 (1992).
- A. Kakizuka, W. H. Miller, K. Umesono, R. P. Warrell, S. R. Frankel, V. V. V. S. Murty, E. Dmitrovsky, R. M. Evans, Chromosomal translocation t(15;17) in human acute promyelocytic leukemia fuses RARα with a novel putative transcription factor, PML. *Cell* 66, 663–674 (1991).
- A. Reymond, G. Meroni, A. Fantozzi, G. Merla, S. Cairo, L. Luzi, D. Riganelli, E. Zanaria, S. Messali, S. Cainarca, A. Guffanti, S. Minucci, P. G. Pelicci, A. Ballabio, The tripartite motif family identifies cell compartments. *EMBO J.* 20, 2140–2151 (2001).
- J. Song, L. K. Durrin, T. A. Wilkinson, T. G. Krontiris, Y. Chen, Identification of a SUMObinding motif that recognizes SUMO-modified proteins. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403498101 (2004).
- S. E. Schwarz, K. Matuschewski, D. Liakopoulos, M. Scheffner, S. Jentsch, The ubiquitin-like proteins SMT3 and SUMO-1 are conjugated by the UBC9 E2 enzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 95, 560–564 (1998).
- T. Kamitani, K. Kito, H. P. Nguyen, H. Wada, T. Fukuda-Kamitani, E. T. H. Yeh, Identification of Three Major Sentrinization Sites in PML *. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 26675–26682 (1998).

- * T. H. Shen, H.-K. Lin, P. P. Scaglioni, T. M. Yung, P. P. Pandolfi, The Mechanisms of PML-Nuclear Body Formation. *Mol. Cell* 24, 331–339 (2006).
- 32. * D.-Y. Lin, Y.-S. Huang, J.-C. Jeng, H.-Y. Kuo, C.-C. Chang, T.-T. Chao, C.-C. Ho, Y.-C. Chen, T.-P. Lin, H.-I. Fang, C.-C. Hung, C.-S. Suen, M.-J. Hwang, K.-S. Chang, G. G. Maul, H.-M. Shih, Role of SUMO-interacting motif in Daxx SUMO modification, subnuclear localization, and repression of sumoylated transcription factors. *Mol. Cell* 24, 341–354 (2006).
- T. Bregnard, A. Ahmed, I. V. Semenova, S. K. Weller, I. Bezsonova, The B-box1 domain of PML mediates SUMO E2-E3 complex formation through an atypical interaction with UBC9. *Biophys. Chem.* 287, 106827 (2022).
- 34. Y. Chu, X. Yang, SUMO E3 ligase activity of TRIM proteins. Oncogene 30, 1108–1116 (2011).
- V. Lallemand-Breitenbach, H. de Thé, PML nuclear bodies: from architecture to function. *Curr.* Opin. Cell Biol. 52, 154–161 (2018).
- S. Zhong, P. Salomoni, P. P. Pandolfi, The transcriptional role of PML and the nuclear body. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, E85-90 (2000).
- Z.-G. Wang, D. Ruggero, S. Ronchetti, S. Zhong, M. Gaboli, R. Rivi, P. P. Pandolfi, Pml is essential for multiple apoptotic pathways. *Nat. Genet.* 20, 266–272 (1998).
- H. H. Guldner, C. Szostecki, T. Grötzinger, H. Will, IFN enhance expression of Sp100, an autoantigen in primary biliary cirrhosis. J. Immunol. 149, 4067–4073 (1992).
- T. Grötzinger, T. Sternsdorf, K. Jensen, H. Will, Interferon-Modulated Expression of Genes Encoding the Nuclear-Dot-Associated Proteins Sp100 and Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein (PML). *Eur. J. Biochem.* 238, 554–560 (1996).
- Z. G. Wang, L. Delva, M. Gaboli, R. Rivi, M. Giorgio, C. Cordon-Cardo, F. Grosveld, P. P. Pandolfi, Role of PML in cell growth and the retinoic acid pathway. *Science* 279, 1547–1551 (1998).
- R. Mahajan, C. Delphin, T. Guan, L. Gerace, F. Melchior, A Small Ubiquitin-Related Polypeptide Involved in Targeting RanGAP1 to Nuclear Pore Complex Protein RanBP2. *Cell* 88, 97–107 (1997).
- R. Mahajan, L. Gerace, F. Melchior, Molecular Characterization of the SUMO-1 Modification of RanGAP1 and Its Role in Nuclear Envelope Association. J. Cell Biol. 140, 259–270 (1998).
- R. J. Dohmen, R. Stappen, J. P. McGrath, H. Forrová, J. Kolarov, A. Goffeau, A. Varshavsky, An Essential Yeast Gene Encoding a Homolog of Ubiquitin-activating Enzyme *. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 18099–18109 (1995).
- E. S. Johnson, I. Schwienhorst, R. J. Dohmen, G. Blobel, The ubiquitin-like protein Smt3p is activated for conjugation to other proteins by an Aos1p/Uba2p heterodimer. *EMBO J.* 16, 5509– 5519 (1997).
- E. S. Johnson, G. Blobel, Ubc9p Is the Conjugating Enzyme for the Ubiquitin-like Protein Smt3p *. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 26799–26802 (1997).
- E. S. Johnson, A. A. Gupta, An E3-like Factor that Promotes SUMO Conjugation to the Yeast Septins. *Cell* 106, 735–744 (2001).

- T. Kahyo, T. Nishida, H. Yasuda, Involvement of PIAS1 in the Sumoylation of Tumor Suppressor p53. *Mol. Cell* 8, 713–718 (2001).
- H. H. Guldner, C. Szostecki, P. Schröder, U. Matschl, K. Jensen, C. Lüders, H. Will, T. Sternsdorf, Splice variants of the nuclear dot-associated Sp100 protein contain homologies to HMG-1 and a human nuclear phosphoprotein-box motif. *J. Cell Sci.* **112**, 733–747 (1999).
- C. Wasylyk, S. E. Schlumberger, P. Criqui-Filipe, B. Wasylyk, Sp100 Interacts with ETS-1 and Stimulates Its Transcriptional Activity. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 22, 2687–2702 (2002).
- K. W. Wilcox, S. Sheriff, A. Isaac, J. L. Taylor, SP100B is a repressor of gene expression. J. Cell. Biochem. 95, 352–365 (2005).
- P. W. Lewis, S. J. Elsaesser, K.-M. Noh, S. C. Stadler, C. D. Allis, Daxx is an H3.3-specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 107, 14075–14080 (2010).
- H. P. J. Voon, J. R. Hughes, C. Rode, I. A. De La Rosa-Velázquez, T. Jenuwein, R. Feil, D. R. Higgs, R. J. Gibbons, ATRX Plays a Key Role in Maintaining Silencing at Interstitial Heterochromatic Loci and Imprinted Genes. *Cell Rep.* 11, 405–418 (2015).
- G. Banumathy, N. Somaiah, R. Zhang, Y. Tang, J. Hoffmann, M. Andrake, H. Ceulemans, D. Schultz, R. Marmorstein, P. D. Adams, Human UBN1 Is an Ortholog of Yeast Hpc2p and Has an Essential Role in the HIRA/ASF1a Chromatin-Remodeling Pathway in Senescent Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 758–770 (2009).
- H. Tagami, D. Ray-Gallet, G. Almouzni, Y. Nakatani, Histone H3.1 and H3.3 Complexes Mediate Nucleosome Assembly Pathways Dependent or Independent of DNA Synthesis. *Cell* 116, 51–61 (2004).
- T. S. Rai, M. Glass, J. J. Cole, M. I. Rather, M. Marsden, M. Neilson, C. Brock, I. R. Humphreys, R. D. Everett, P. D. Adams, Histone chaperone HIRA deposits histone H3.3 onto foreign viral DNA and contributes to anti-viral intrinsic immunity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 45, 11673–11683 (2017).
- 57. S. G. Franklin, A. Zweidler, Non-allelic variants of histones 2a, 2b and 3 in mammals. *Nature* **266**, 273–275 (1977).
- R. S. Wu, W. M. Bonner, Separation of basal histone synthesis from S-phase histone synthesis in dividing cells. *Cell* 27, 321–330 (1981).
- K. Ahmad, S. Henikoff, The Histone Variant H3.3 Marks Active Chromatin by Replication-Independent Nucleosome Assembly. *Mol. Cell* 9, 1191–1200 (2002).
- M. Udugama, F. T. M. Chang, F. L. Chan, M. C. Tang, H. A. Pickett, J. D. R. McGhie, L. Mayne, P. Collas, J. R. Mann, L. H. Wong, Histone variant H3.3 provides the heterochromatic H3 lysine 9 tri-methylation mark at telomeres. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, 10227–10237 (2015).
- S. Martire, A. A. Gogate, A. Whitmill, A. Tafessu, J. Nguyen, Y.-C. Teng, M. Tastemel, L. A. Banaszynski, Phosphorylation of histone H3.3 at serine 31 promotes p300 activity and enhancer acetylation. *Nat. Genet.* 51, 941–946 (2019).

- * M. R. Thompson, J. J. Kaminski, E. A. Kurt-Jones, K. A. Fitzgerald, Pattern Recognition Receptors and the Innate Immune Response to Viral Infection. *Viruses* 3, 920–940 (2011).
- 63. * T. Kawai, S. Akira, Signaling to NF-κB by Toll-like receptors. *Trends Mol. Med.* **13**, 460–469 (2007).
- M. Yoneyama, M. Kikuchi, T. Natsukawa, N. Shinobu, T. Imaizumi, M. Miyagishi, K. Taira, S. Akira, T. Fujita, The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNAinduced innate antiviral responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 730–737 (2004).
- H. Ishikawa, G. N. Barber, STING an Endoplasmic Reticulum Adaptor that Facilitates Innate Immune Signaling. *Nature* 455, 674–678 (2008).
- A. G. Bowie, L. Unterholzner, Viral evasion and subversion of pattern-recognition receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 911–922 (2008).
- 67. * C. J. Secombes, J. Zou, Evolution of Interferons and Interferon Receptors. *Front. Immunol.* **8** (2017).
- * L. C. Platanias, Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 375–386 (2005).
- M. J. de Veer, M. Holko, M. Frevel, E. Walker, S. Der, J. M. Paranjape, R. H. Silverman, B. R. G. Williams, Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 69, 912–920 (2001).
- J. W. Schoggins, S. J. Wilson, M. Panis, M. Y. Murphy, C. T. Jones, P. Bieniasz, C. M. Rice, A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. *Nature* 472, 481–485 (2011).
- 71. * J. W. Schoggins, Interferon-Stimulated Genes: What Do They All Do? *Annu. Rev. Virol.* **6**, 567–584 (2019).
- D. Rubio, R.-H. Xu, S. Remakus, T. E. Krouse, M. E. Truckenmiller, R. J. Thapa, S. Balachandran, A. Alcamí, C. C. Norbury, L. J. Sigal, Crosstalk between the Type 1 Interferon and Nuclear Factor Kappa B Pathways Confers Resistance to a Lethal Virus Infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 13, 701–710 (2013).
- S. Uddin, A. Sassano, D. K. Deb, A. Verma, B. Majchrzak, A. Rahman, A. B. Malik, E. N. Fish, L. C. Platanias, Protein Kinase C-δ (PKC-δ) Is Activated by Type I Interferons and Mediates Phosphorylation of Stat1 on Serine 727 *. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 14408–14416 (2002).
- 74. Z. Wen, Z. Zhong, J. E. Darnell, Maximal activation of transcription by statl and stat3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation. *Cell* **82**, 241–250 (1995).
- B. R. Tenoever, S.-L. Ng, M. A. Chua, S. M. McWhirter, A. García-Sastre, T. Maniatis, Multiple Functions of the IKK-Related Kinase IKKε in Interferon-Mediated Antiviral Immunity. *Science* 315, 1274–1278 (2007).
- J. E. Fenner, R. Starr, A. L. Cornish, J.-G. Zhang, D. Metcalf, R. D. Schreiber, K. Sheehan, D. J. Hilton, W. S. Alexander, P. J. Hertzog, Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 regulates the immune response to infection by a unique inhibition of type I interferon activity. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 33–39 (2006).
- T. R. Wu, Y. K. Hong, X.-D. Wang, M. Y. Ling, A. M. Dragoi, A. S. Chung, A. G. Campbell, Z.-Y. Han, G.-S. Feng, Y. E. Chin, SHP-2 Is a Dual-specificity Phosphatase Involved in Stat1

Dephosphorylation at Both Tyrosine and Serine Residues in Nuclei *. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47572–47580 (2002).

- * C. M. Pickart, Mechanisms underlying ubiquitination. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 70, 503–533 (2001).
- * Q. Zhao, R. Zhang, C. Qiao, Y. Miao, Y. Yuan, H. Zheng, Ubiquitination network in the type I IFN-induced antiviral signaling pathway. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 53, 2350384 (2023).
- T. Tanaka, M. A. Soriano, M. J. Grusby, SLIM Is a Nuclear Ubiquitin E3 Ligase that Negatively Regulates STAT Signaling. *Immunity* 22, 729–736 (2005).
- J. J. Y. Wong, Y. F. Pung, N. S.-K. Sze, K.-C. Chin, HERC5 is an IFN-induced HECT-type E3 protein ligase that mediates type I IFN-induced ISGylation of protein targets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 103, 10735–10740 (2006).
- M. P. Malakhov, K. I. Kim, O. A. Malakhova, B. S. Jacobs, E. C. Borden, D.-E. Zhang, Highthroughput Immunoblotting: UBIQUITIN-LIKE PROTEIN ISG15 MODIFIES KEY REGULATORS OF SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION *. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 16608–16613 (2003).
- K. J. Ritchie, C. S. Hahn, K. I. Kim, M. Yan, D. Rosario, L. Li, J. C. de la Torre, D.-E. Zhang, Role of ISG15 protease UBP43 (USP18) in innate immunity to viral infection. *Nat. Med.* 10, 1374–1378 (2004).
- O. A. Malakhova, M. Yan, M. P. Malakhov, Y. Yuan, K. J. Ritchie, K. I. Kim, L. F. Peterson, K. Shuai, D.-E. Zhang, Protein ISGylation modulates the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. *Genes Dev.* 17, 455–460 (2003).
- T. Kubota, M. Matsuoka, T.-H. Chang, P. Tailor, T. Sasaki, M. Tashiro, A. Kato, K. Ozato, Virus Infection Triggers SUMOylation of IRF3 and IRF7, Leading to the Negative Regulation of Type I Interferon Gene Expression *. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 25660–25670 (2008).
- A. Decque, O. Joffre, J. G. Magalhaes, J.-C. Cossec, R. Blecher-Gonen, P. Lapaquette, A. Silvin, N. Manel, P.-E. Joubert, J.-S. Seeler, M. L. Albert, I. Amit, S. Amigorena, A. Dejean, Sumoylation coordinates the repression of inflammatory and anti-viral gene-expression programs during innate sensing. *Nat. Immunol.* **17**, 140–149 (2016).
- D. Ungureanu, S. Vanhatupa, J. Grönholm, J. J. Palvimo, O. Silvennoinen, SUMO-1 conjugation selectively modulates STAT1-mediated gene responses. *Blood* 106, 224–226 (2005).
- Z. Mi, J. Fu, Y. Xiong, H. Tang, SUMOylation of RIG-I positively regulates the type I interferon signaling. *Protein Cell* 1, 275–283 (2010).
- L. Du, W. Liu, S. T. Rosen, Y. Chen, Mechanism of SUMOylation-Mediated Regulation of Type I IFN Expression. J. Mol. Biol. 435, 167968 (2023).
- X. Li, Q. Zhang, Y. Ding, Y. Liu, D. Zhao, K. Zhao, Q. Shen, X. Liu, X. Zhu, N. Li, Z. Cheng, G. Fan, Q. Wang, X. Cao, Methyltransferase Dnmt3a upregulates HDAC9 to deacetylate the kinase TBK1 for activation of antiviral innate immunity. *Nat. Immunol.* 17, 806–815 (2016).
- X. Tang, J.-S. Gao, Y. Guan, K. E. McLane, Z.-L. Yuan, B. Ramratnam, Y. E. Chin, Acetylation-Dependent Signal Transduction for Type I Interferon Receptor. *Cell* 131, 93–105 (2007).
- K. A. Mowen, J. Tang, W. Zhu, B. T. Schurter, K. Shuai, H. R. Herschman, M. David, Arginine Methylation of STAT1 Modulates IFNα/β-Induced Transcription. *Cell* 104, 731–741 (2001).

- T. Agalioti, S. Lomvardas, B. Parekh, J. Yie, T. Maniatis, D. Thanos, Ordered Recruitment of Chromatin Modifying and General Transcription Factors to the IFN-β Promoter. *Cell* 103, 667– 678 (2000).
- T. C. Fang, U. Schaefer, I. Mecklenbrauker, A. Stienen, S. Dewell, M. S. Chen, I. Rioja, V. Parravicini, R. K. Prinjha, R. Chandwani, M. R. MacDonald, K. Lee, C. M. Rice, A. Tarakhovsky, Histone H3 lysine 9 di-methylation as an epigenetic signature of the interferon response. *J. Exp. Med.* 209, 661–669 (2012).
- M. Paulson, C. Press, E. Smith, N. Tanese, D. E. Levy, IFN-Stimulated transcription through a TBP-free acetyltransferase complex escapes viral shutoff. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 140–147 (2002).
- Y. Zhang, D. Mao, W. T. Roswit, X. Jin, A. C. Patel, D. A. Patel, E. Agapov, Z. Wang, R. M. Tidwell, J. J. Atkinson, G. Huang, R. McCarthy, J. Yu, N. E. Yun, S. Paessler, T. G. Lawson, N. S. Omattage, T. J. Brett, M. J. Holtzman, PARP9-DTX3L ubiquitin ligase targets host histone H2BJ and viral 3C protease to enhance interferon signaling and control viral infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 16, 1215–1227 (2015).
- Z. Gao, W. Li, X. Mao, T. Huang, H. Wang, Y. Li, B. Liu, J. Zhong, C. Renjie, J. Jin, Y. Li, Single-nucleotide methylation specifically represses type I interferon in antiviral innate immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 218, e20201798 (2021).
- R. W. Ching, K. Ahmed, P. C. Boutros, L. Z. Penn, D. P. Bazett-Jones, Identifying gene locus associations with promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies using immuno-TRAP. *J. Cell Biol.* 201, 325–335 (2013).
- C. Kleijwegt, F. Bressac, C. Seurre, W. Bouchereau, C. Cohen, P. Texier, T. Simonet, L. Schaeffer, P. Lomonte, A. Corpet, Interplay between PML NBs and HIRA for H3.3 dynamics following type I interferon stimulus. *eLife* 12, e80156 (2023).
- Y.-E. Kim, J.-H. Ahn, Positive Role of Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein in Type I Interferon Response and Its Regulation by Human Cytomegalovirus. *PLOS Pathog.* 11, e1004785 (2015).
- 101. H.-M. Chang, M. Paulson, M. Holko, C. M. Rice, B. R. G. Williams, I. Marié, D. E. Levy, Induction of interferon-stimulated gene expression and antiviral responses require protein deacetylase activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101, 9578–9583 (2004).
- I. Nusinzon, C. M. Horvath, Interferon-stimulated transcription and innate antiviral immunity require deacetylase activity and histone deacetylase 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 100, 14742–14747 (2003).
- 103. Y. Chen, J. Wright, X. Meng, K. N. Leppard, Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein Isoform II Promotes Transcription Factor Recruitment To Activate Interferon Beta and Interferon-Responsive Gene Expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 35, 1660–1672 (2015).
- 104. F. E. Asmi, M. A. Maroui, J. Dutrieux, D. Blondel, S. Nisole, M. K. Chelbi-Alix, Implication of PMLIV in Both Intrinsic and Innate Immunity. *PLOS Pathog.* 10, e1003975 (2014).
- 105. A.-C. Stilp, M. Scherer, P. König, A. Fürstberger, H. A. Kestler, T. Stamminger, The chromatin remodeling protein ATRX positively regulates IRF3-dependent type I interferon production and interferon-induced gene expression. *PLOS Pathog.* 18, e1010748 (2022).
- H. Dong, W. Wu, J. Li, Y. Ma, X. Deng, D. Guo, P. Xu, PML Body Component Sp100A Is a Cytosolic Responder to IFN and Activator of Antiviral ISGs. *mBio* 13, e02044-22 (2022).

- 107. T. Regad, A. Saib, V. Lallemand-Breitenbach, P. P. Pandolfi, H. de Thé, M. K. Chelbi-Alix, PML mediates the interferon-induced antiviral state against a complex retrovirus via its association with the viral transactivator. *EMBO J.* **20**, 3495–3505 (2001).
- C. Boutell, S. Sadis, R. D. Everett, Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Immediate-Early Protein ICP0 and Its Isolated RING Finger Domain Act as Ubiquitin E3 Ligases In Vitro. J. Virol. 76, 841– 850 (2002).
- W. Cai, T. L. Astor, L. M. Liptak, C. Cho, D. M. Coen, P. A. Schaffer, The herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP0 enhances virus replication during acute infection and reactivation from latency. *J. Virol.* 67, 7501–7512 (1993).
- W. Cai, P. A. Schaffer, Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 regulates expression of immediateearly, early, and late genes in productively infected cells. J. Virol. 66, 2904–2915 (1992).
- 111. N. D. Stow, E. C. Stow, Isolation and Characterization of a Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Mutant Containing a Deletion within the Gene Encoding the Immediate Early Polypeptide Vmw110. J. Gen. Virol. 67, 2571–2585 (1986).
- E. K. Wagner, D. C. Bloom, Experimental investigation of herpes simplex virus latency. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 10, 419–443 (1997).
- G. G. Maul, A. M. Ishov, R. D. Everett, Nuclear Domain 10 as Preexisting Potential Replication Start Sites of Herpes Simplex Virus Type-1. *Virology* 217, 67–75 (1996).
- 114. C. Boutell, D. Cuchet-Lourenço, E. Vanni, A. Orr, M. Glass, S. McFarlane, R. D. Everett, A Viral Ubiquitin Ligase Has Substrate Preferential SUMO Targeted Ubiquitin Ligase Activity that Counteracts Intrinsic Antiviral Defence. *PLOS Pathog.* 7, e1002245 (2011).
- M. K. Chelbi-Alix, H. de Thé, Herpes virus induced proteasome-dependent degradation of the nuclear bodies-associated PML and Sp100 proteins. *Oncogene* 18, 935–941 (1999).
- 116. R. D. Everett, P. Freemont, H. Saitoh, M. Dasso, A. Orr, M. Kathoria, J. Parkinson, The Disruption of ND10 during Herpes Simplex Virus Infection Correlates with the Vmw110- and Proteasome-Dependent Loss of Several PML Isoforms. *J. Virol.* **72**, 6581–6591 (1998).
- 117. A. V. Chee, P. Lopez, P. P. Pandolfi, B. Roizman, Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein Mediates Interferon-Based Anti-Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Effects. J. Virol. 77, 7101–7105 (2003).
- V. Lukashchuk, R. D. Everett, Regulation of ICP0-Null Mutant Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Infection by ND10 Components ATRX and hDaxx. J. Virol. 84, 4026–4040 (2010).
- R. D. Everett, S. Rechter, P. Papior, N. Tavalai, T. Stamminger, A. Orr, PML Contributes to a Cellular Mechanism of Repression of Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Infection That Is Inactivated by ICP0. J. Virol. 80, 7995–8005 (2006).
- R. D. Everett, C. Parada, P. Gripon, H. Sirma, A. Orr, Replication of ICP0-Null Mutant Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Is Restricted by both PML and Sp100. J. Virol. 82, 2661–2672 (2008).
- R. D. Everett, J. Murray, ND10 Components Relocate to Sites Associated with Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Nucleoprotein Complexes during Virus Infection. J. Virol. 79, 5078–5089 (2005).
- 122. D. Cuchet, A. Sykes, A. Nicolas, A. Orr, J. Murray, H. Sirma, J. Heeren, A. Bartelt, R. D. Everett, PML isoforms I and II participate in PML-dependent restriction of HSV-1 replication. *J. Cell Sci.* 124, 280–291 (2011).

- J. M. Cabral, H. S. Oh, D. M. Knipe, ATRX promotes maintenance of herpes simplex virus heterochromatin during chromatin stress. *eLife* 7, e40228 (2018).
- 124. F. Catez, C. Picard, K. Held, S. Gross, A. Rousseau, D. Theil, N. Sawtell, M. Labetoulle, P. Lomonte, HSV-1 Genome Subnuclear Positioning and Associations with Host-Cell PML-NBs and Centromeres Regulate LAT Locus Transcription during Latency in Neurons. *PLOS Pathog.* 8, e1002852 (2012).
- 125. M. A. Maroui, A. Callé, C. Cohen, N. Streichenberger, P. Texier, J. Takissian, A. Rousseau, N. Poccardi, J. Welsch, A. Corpet, L. Schaeffer, M. Labetoulle, P. Lomonte, Latency Entry of Herpes Simplex Virus 1 Is Determined by the Interaction of Its Genome with the Nuclear Environment. *PLOS Pathog.* 12, e1005834 (2016).
- 126. C. Cohen, A. Corpet, S. Roubille, M. A. Maroui, N. Poccardi, A. Rousseau, C. Kleijwegt, O. Binda, P. Texier, N. Sawtell, M. Labetoulle, P. Lomonte, Promyelocytic leukemia (PML) nuclear bodies (NBs) induce latent/quiescent HSV-1 genomes chromatinization through a PML NB/Histone H3.3/H3.3 Chaperone Axis. *PLOS Pathog.* 14, e1007313 (2018).
- 127. C. Kelly, R. Van Driel, G. W. Wilkinson, Disruption of PML-associated nuclear bodies during human cytomegalovirus infection. J. Gen. Virol. 76 (Pt 11), 2887–2893 (1995).
- 128. F. Korioth, G. G. Maul, B. Plachter, T. Stamminger, J. Frey, The Nuclear Domain 10 (ND10) Is Disrupted by the Human Cytomegalovirus Gene Product IE1. *Exp. Cell Res.* 229, 155–158 (1996).
- 129. J.-H. Ahn, E. J. Brignole, G. S. Hayward, Disruption of PML Subnuclear Domains by the Acidic IE1 Protein of Human Cytomegalovirus Is Mediated through Interaction with PML and May Modulate a RING Finger-Dependent Cryptic Transactivator Function of PML. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 18, 4899–4913 (1998).
- S. Müller, A. Dejean, Viral immediate-early proteins abrogate the modification by SUMO-1 of PML and Sp100 proteins, correlating with nuclear body disruption. *J. Virol.* 73, 5137–5143 (1999).
- 131. H.-R. Lee, D.-J. Kim, J.-M. Lee, C. Y. Choi, B.-Y. Ahn, G. S. Hayward, J.-H. Ahn, Ability of the Human Cytomegalovirus IE1 Protein To Modulate Sumoylation of PML Correlates with Its Functional Activities in Transcriptional Regulation and Infectivity in Cultured Fibroblast Cells. *J. Virol.* 78, 6527–6542 (2004).
- 132. R. T. Saffert, R. F. Kalejta, Inactivating a Cellular Intrinsic Immune Defense Mediated by Daxx Is the Mechanism through Which the Human Cytomegalovirus pp71 Protein Stimulates Viral Immediate-Early Gene Expression. J. Virol. 80, 3863–3871 (2006).
- C. L. Ashley, M. S. Glass, A. Abendroth, B. P. McSharry, B. Slobedman, Nuclear domain 10 components upregulated via interferon during human cytomegalovirus infection potently regulate viral infection. *J. Gen. Virol.* 98, 1795–1805 (2017).
- 134. J. R. Nevins, Mechanism of activation of early viral transcription by the adenovirus E1A gene product. *Cell* **26**, 213–220 (1981).
- 135. M. Perricaudet, G. Akusjärvi, A. Virtanen, U. Pettersson, Structure of two spliced mRNAs from the transforming region of human subgroup C adenoviruses. *Nature* **281**, 694–696 (1979).
- F. Puvion-Dutilleul, J. Pédron, C. Cajean-Feroldi, Identification of intranuclear structures containing the 72K DNA-binding protein of human adenovirus type 5. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 34, 313–322 (1984).

- 137. V. Doucas, A. M. Ishov, A. Romo, H. Juguilon, M. D. Weitzman, R. M. Evans, G. G. Maul, Adenovirus replication is coupled with the dynamic properties of the PML nuclear structure. *Genes Dev.* **10**, 196–207 (1996).
- A. Hoppe, S. J. Beech, J. Dimmock, K. N. Leppard, Interaction of the Adenovirus Type 5 E4 Orf3 Protein with Promyelocytic Leukemia Protein Isoform II Is Required for ND10 Disruption. *J. Virol.* 80, 3042–3049 (2006).
- A. J. Ullman, P. Hearing, Cellular Proteins PML and Daxx Mediate an Innate Antiviral Defense Antagonized by the Adenovirus E4 ORF3 Protein. J. Virol. 82, 7325–7335 (2008).
- A. J. Ullman, N. C. Reich, P. Hearing, Adenovirus E4 ORF3 Protein Inhibits the Interferon-Mediated Antiviral Response. J. Virol. 81, 4744–4752 (2007).
- 141. J. Berscheminski, P. Groitl, T. Dobner, P. Wimmer, S. Schreiner, The Adenoviral Oncogene E1A-13S Interacts with a Specific Isoform of the Tumor Suppressor PML To Enhance Viral Transcription. J. Virol. 87, 965–977 (2013).
- 142. M. Stubbe, J. Mai, C. Paulus, H. C. Stubbe, J. Berscheminski, M. Karimi, S. Hofmann, E. Weber, K. Hadian, R. Hay, P. Groitl, M. Nevels, T. Dobner, S. Schreiner, Viral DNA Binding Protein SUMOylation Promotes PML Nuclear Body Localization Next to Viral Replication Centers. *mBio* 11, 10.1128/mbio.00049-20 (2020).
- 143. S. Schreiner, P. Wimmer, H. Sirma, R. D. Everett, P. Blanchette, P. Groitl, T. Dobner, Proteasome-Dependent Degradation of Daxx by the Viral E1B-55K Protein in Human Adenovirus-Infected Cells. J. Virol. 84, 7029–7038 (2010).
- 144. * S. Bhattacharjee, S. Chattaraj, Entry, infection, replication, and egress of human polyomaviruses: an update. *Can. J. Microbiol.* **63**, 193–211 (2017).
- M. L. Gasparovic, M. S. Maginnis, B. A. O'Hara, A. S. Dugan, W. J. Atwood, Modulation of PML protein expression regulates JCV infection. *Virology* **390**, 279–288 (2009).
- 146. Y. Shishido-Hara, S. Ichinose, K. Higuchi, Y. Hara, K. Yasui, Major and Minor Capsid Proteins of Human Polyomavirus JC Cooperatively Accumulate to Nuclear Domain 10 for Assembly into Virions. J. Virol. 78, 9890–9903 (2004).
- 147. V. J. LaMorte, J. A. Dyck, R. L. Ochs, R. M. Evans, Localization of nascent RNA and CREB binding protein with the PML-containing nuclear body. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 95, 4991–4996 (1998).
- 148. F.-M. Boisvert, M. J. Hendzel, D. P. Bazett-Jones, Promyelocytic Leukemia (Pml) Nuclear Bodies Are Protein Structures That Do Not Accumulate RNA. J. Cell Biol. 148, 283–292 (2000).
- W.-S. Wu, S. Vallian, E. Seto, W.-M. Yang, D. Edmondson, S. Roth, K.-S. Chang, The Growth Suppressor PML Represses Transcription by Functionally and Physically Interacting with Histone Deacetylases. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 21, 2259–2268 (2001).